
 

Download this agenda via the free modern.gov app on your iPad or Android 
Device.  For information relating to this meeting or to request a copy in another 

format or language please contact: 
Governance Support, Town Hall, Castle Circus, Torquay, TQ1 3DR  

 

Email: governance.support@torbay.gov.uk - www.torbay.gov.uk  

(1) 

 
 

Friday, 21 March 2025 
 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 

A meeting of Planning Committee will be held on 
 

Monday, 31 March 2025 
 

commencing at 5.30 pm 
 

The meeting will be held in the Banking Hall, Castle Circus entrance on the left 
corner of the Town Hall, Castle Circus, Torquay, TQ1 3DR 

 
 

Members of the Committee 

Councillor Brook (Chairman) 

 

Councillor Billings 

Councillor Mandy Darling 

Councillor Fox (Vice-Chair) 

Councillor Pentney 

 

Councillor Strang 

Councillor Tolchard 

Councillor George Darling 

 

 

 

A Healthy, Happy and Prosperous Torbay 

https://itunes.apple.com/gb/app/mod.gov/id508417355?mt=8
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en
https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=uk.co.moderngov.modgov&hl=en
mailto:governance.support@torbay.gov.uk
http://www.torbay.gov.uk/


(2) 

PLANNING COMMITTEE 
AGENDA 

 
1.   Apologies for absence  
 To receive apologies for absence, including notifications of any 

changes to the membership of the Committee. 
 

2.   Minutes (Pages 5 - 8) 
 To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting of this 

Committee held on 3 March 2025. 
 

3.   Disclosure of Interests  
 (a) To receive declarations of non pecuniary interests in respect of 

items on this agenda. 

 
For reference: Having declared their non pecuniary interest 
members may remain in the meeting and speak and, vote on 
the matter in question. A completed disclosure of interests form 
should be returned to the Clerk before the conclusion of the 
meeting.  

 
(b) To receive declarations of disclosable pecuniary interests in 

respect of items on this agenda. 

 
For reference: Where a Member has a disclosable pecuniary 
interest he/she must leave the meeting during consideration of 
the item. However, the Member may remain in the meeting to 
make representations, answer questions or give evidence if the 
public have a right to do so, but having done so the Member 
must then immediately leave the meeting, may not vote and 
must not improperly seek to influence the outcome of the 
matter. A completed disclosure of interests form should be 
returned to the Clerk before the conclusion of the meeting.  

 
(Please Note: If Members and Officers wish to seek advice on 
any potential interests they may have, they should contact 
Governance Support or Legal Services prior to the meeting.)  

 
4.   Urgent Items  
 To consider any other items that the Chairman decides are urgent. 

 
5.   Land at Princess Gardens, Off Torbay Road, Torquay 

(P/2025/0061) 
(Pages 9 - 28) 

 Change of use of land for the temporary erection and operation of 
45m high observation wheel and ancillary development, for four 
seasonal years (between the period of March to October 2025-
2028).  
 

 Public Speaking  



(3) 

 If you wish to speak on any applications shown on this agenda, 
please contact Governance Support on 207087 or email 
governance.support@torbay.gov.uk before 11 am on the day of the 
meeting. 
 
We are using hybrid meeting arrangements to give registered 
speakers the opportunity to either attend the meeting in person to 
give their views or to attend the meeting remotely via Zoom.  If you 
would like to attend the meeting remotely to speak you will be 
provided with a Zoom link to join the meeting.  We also ask that you 
provide a copy of your speech to 
governance.support@torbay.gov.uk, before 11 am on the day of the 
meeting, so that the Clerk will be able to continue to read out your 
speech if you lose connection or cannot be heard in the physical 
meeting.  Remote attendees who lose connection may still be able 
to follow the meeting via the live stream on the Council’s YouTube 
channel. 
 
Councillors who are not members of the Planning Committee will 
also be able to join the meeting via Zoom and must use their raise 
hand function to declare any interests. 
 

 

 Site Visits  
 If Members consider that site visits are required on any of the 

applications they are requested to let Governance Support know by 
5.00 p.m. on Wednesday, 26 March 2025.  Site visits will then take 
place prior to the meeting of the Committee at a time to be notified. 
 

 

 Live Streaming  
 To encourage more people to engage in our public meetings the 

Council is trialling streaming our Planning Committee meetings on 
our YouTube channel in addition to recording the meetings and 
publishing the recording on our website.  To watch the meeting live 
please visit https://www.youtube.com/user/torbaycouncil. 
 
We are also using hybrid meeting arrangements to enable 
registered speakers to either attend the meeting in person or to 
attend the meeting remotely via Zoom.  Anyone attending the 
meeting remotely must register their intention to do so by 11 
am on the day of the meeting and provide a copy of their 
speech to governance.support@torbay.gov.uk by this deadline.  
If anyone attending the meeting remotely loses connection the 
meeting will continue and their speech will be read out by the Clerk 
and they will have the option to follow the meeting via the YouTube 
live stream. 
 

 

mailto:democratic.services@torbay.gov.uk
mailto:governance.support@torbay.gov.uk
https://www.youtube.com/user/torbaycouncil
mailto:governance.support@torbay.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



  
 

 

Minutes of the Planning Committee 
 

3 March 2025 
 

-: Present :- 
 

Councillor Brook (Chairman) 

 

Councillors Billings, Mandy Darling, Fox (Vice-Chair), Pentney, Strang, Tolchard and 
Virdee 

 
 

 
81. Minutes  

 
The minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 3 February 2025 were 
confirmed as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 

82. Mayfield School, Moor Lane, Torquay (P/2024/0814)  
 
The Committee considered an application for the replacement of an Air Handling unit 
and installation of two new Air Source Heat Pumps on the roof and associated works 
including steel frame support.   
 
Prior to the meeting, the written representations were available on the Council’s 
website.  At the meeting, Dr Rodney Horder addressed the Committee on behalf of 
the Torquay Neighbourhood Forum in support of the application. 
 
Resolved (unanimously): 
 
Approved subject to: 
 
1. the planning conditions as outlined within the submitted report with the final 

drafting of conditions delegated to the Divisional Director of Planning, Housing 
and Climate Emergency; and 
 

2. the resolution of any new material considerations that may come to light 
following the Planning Committee to be delegated to the Divisional Director of 
Planning, Housing and Climate Emergency, including the addition of any 
necessary further planning conditions or obligations.  

 
83. Brampton Court Hotel, St Lukes Road South, Torquay (P/2023/0738)  

 
The Committee considered an application which included change of use for the 
building to Class C3, subdivision into 14 self-contained dwellings including 10 x one 
bedroom and 4 x two bedroom units, demolition of existing conservatory and 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



Planning Committee   Monday, 3 March 2025 
 

 

replacement with a single storey side extension, seven car parking spaces on the 
forecourt and creation of amenity space, bin stores and cycle storage.   
 
Prior to the meeting, the written representations were available on the Council’s 
website.  At the meeting Ms Julie Brandon addressed the Committee against the 
application.  Dr Rodney Horder addressed the Committee on behalf of the Torquay 
Neighbourhood Forum against the application.  Mr Alistair Powe addressed the 
Committee in support of the application.   
 
Resolved (unanimously): 
 
Approved subject to: 
 
1. the planning conditions outlined in the submitted report with the following 

amendments:  
 
 Revised Condition 1 Construction Management Plan: 
 

No above ground construction works shall take place until a site-specific 
Construction Management Plan has been submitted to and been approved in 
writing by the Council. The plan must demonstrate the adoption and use of the 
best practicable means to reduce the effects of noise, & dust.   
 
The plan should include, but not be limited to: 
 

 the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 

 procedures for maintaining good neighbour relations including complaint 
management; 

 all works and ancillary operations which are audible at the site boundary, or 
at such other place as may be agreed with the Local Planning Authority, 
shall be carried out only between the following hours: 
08:00 Hours and 18:00 Hours on Mondays to Fridays and 08:00 and 13:00 
hours on Saturdays and; at no time on Sundays and Bank Holidays; 

 deliveries to and removal of plant, equipment, machinery and waste from 
the site must only take place within the permitted hours detailed above; 

 mitigation measures as defined in BS 5528: Parts 1 and 2: 2009 Noise and 
Vibration Control on Construction and Open Sites shall be used to minimise 
noise disturbance from construction works; and 

 control measures for dust and other air-borne pollutants. 
 
The development shall be implemented in accordance with the approved 
details.  
 
Reason for Variation: In the interests of the amenities of surrounding 
occupiers during the construction of the development in accordance with 
Policies TA2 and DE3 of the Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. 

 
 Revised Condition 2 Materials: 
 

Page 6



Planning Committee   Monday, 3 March 2025 
 

 

Details of the external finishes of the extension hereby permitted including 
samples of the slates to be used on the roof shall be submitted to and agreed 
in writing by the LPA prior to the above ground commencement of the 
extension.  The windows and frames in the single-storey extension hereby 
permitted shall be of timber construction.   
 
The external finishes of the development shall be implemented prior to the 
occupation of the respective unit.  The approved materials shall be retained 
thereafter unless otherwise agreed in writing by the LPA. 
 
Reason for Variation: To ensure a satisfactory form of development in 
accordance with Policies DE1 and SS10 of the Torbay Local Plan 2012, Policy 
TH8 of Torquay Neighbourhood Plan 2019 and the National Planning Policy 
Framework. 
 
Revised Condition 5 Parking Layout: 

 
Seven car parking spaces in the locations shown on the site layout plan 
(Drawing No 24129 -09002- P07) shall be laid out and provided for the free use 
of occupants and visitors to the site prior to its first occupation for the use 
hereby permitted.   One of those spaces shall be laid out as a wider space for 
use by people with disabilities (width 2.4m with adjacent yellow hatched area of 
width 1.2m).  The spaces shall be retained in that condition thereafter. 
 
Reason for Variation: In the interests of highway safety and amenity, and in 
accordance with Policy TA3 of the Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and 
Policy TH9 of Torquay Neighbourhood Plan 2019. 

 
2. the final drafting of planning conditions delegated to the Divisional Director of 

Planning, Housing and Climate Emergency; and  
 
3. the resolution of any new material considerations that may come to light 

following the Planning Committee to be delegated to the Divisional Director of 
Planning, Housing and Climate Emergency, including the addition of any 
necessary further planning conditions or obligations.   

 
 
 
 

Chairman 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Application Site Address Land At Princess Gardens  
Off Torbay Road 
Torquay 
TQ2 5EY 

Proposal Change of use of land for the temporary erection and 
operation of 45m high observation wheel and ancillary 
development, for four seasonal years (between the period 
of March to October 2025-2028). 

Application Number  P/2025/0061 

Applicant James Mellor Ltd 

Agent GPS Planning and Design Ltd 

Date Application Valid 28.01.2025 

Decision Due Date 25.03.2025 

Extension of Time Date  

Recommendation  Approval: Subject to; 
Prior to the grant of planning permission a ‘Conservation 
Mitigation Obligation’ to the sum of £110,000 be secured 
through a legal agreement, for improvement works 
identified within the submitted Princess Gardens 
Masterplan Report Update, for the Registered Park and 
Garden. 
 
The conditions as outlined, with the final drafting of 
conditions delegated to the Divisional Director of 
Planning, Housing and Climate Emergency. 
 
The resolution of any new material considerations that 
may come to light following Planning Committee to be 
delegated to the Divisional Director of Planning, Housing 
and Climate Emergency, including the addition of any 
necessary further planning conditions or obligations. 

Reason for Referral to 
Planning Committee 

Torbay Council Land. 

Planning Case Officer Scott Jones  

 

 

Page 9

Agenda Item 5

http://www.torbay.gov.uk/


 

 

 
 
Site Details 
 
The site is in a sensitive location, it is prominent within the Torquay Harbour 
Conservation Area, near to a Grade II Listed building (Torquay Pavilion) and set within 
Princess Gardens which is a Grade II entry on the Register of Historic Parks and 
Gardens.  It is adjacent to the War Memorial and near to the Fountain, which are both 
also Grade II listed structures. 
 
The Registered Park and Garden is on Historic England’s ‘Heritage at Risk’ register, 
with an improving trend, as confirmed by Historic England. 
 
The site is also in a Core Tourism Investment Area (CTIA), a Coastal Change 
Management Area, and a Flood Risk Area, as designated within the Torbay Local 
Plan.  The site and wider area is also a Local Green Space, as designated within the 
Torquay Neighbourhood Plan. 
 
The land is owned by Torbay Council. 
 
Description of Development 
 
This application seeks the erection of a 45m observation wheel, ticket office, and an 
ancillary catering unit with seating area, within Princess Gardens, Torquay.  The 
application seeks the temporary change of use of land for these purposes between 
mid-March to October for the years 2025 through to 2028 (4 season/years). 

Page 10



 

 

 
The observation wheel is to be sited between the War Memorial and Princess Theatre, 
perpendicular to the adjacent highway, in the location where previous ‘wheels’ have 
been sited. 
 
The ticket office is set at the foot of the wheel at the point of entry for customers and 
is a flat roofed portable building that is 3.5m by 3.5m and 2.3m high.  The catering unit 
is 6m wide by 2.5m deep and 3.7m high (to the top of an affixed signage panel), to be 
located just to the seaward side of the wheel with a seating area adjacent. 
 
The submission includes a draft legal document outlining the Developers’ undertaking 
to pay the sum of £110,000 for conservation purposes, namely towards a resurfacing 
scheme for the pathways within the Registered Park and Garden, as identified within 
the submitted Princess Gardens Masterplan Update Report (LHC). 
 
Pre-Application Enquiry 
 
N/A. 
 
Relevant Planning Policy Context  
 
Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 places a duty on 
local planning authorities to determine proposals in accordance with the development 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The following development 
plan policies and material considerations are relevant to this application: 
 
Development Plan 
- The Adopted Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 ("The Local Plan") 
- The Adopted Torquay Neighbourhood Plan (TNP) 
 
Material Considerations 
- National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
- Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) 
- Published standing Advice 
-  Planning matters relevant to the case under consideration, including the 

following advice and representations, planning history, and other matters 
referred to in this report: 

 
Relevant Planning History  
 
Observation Wheels: 
P/2012/0690: Temporary consent for Observation Wheel between 13th August and 
November 2012.  Approved. 
P/2013/0167: Temporary Consent for period 24th May- 5th November.  Approved. 
P/2014/0193: Temporary consent for period March-October 2014.  Approved. 
P/2015/0042: Temporary consent for period March-November 2015.  Approved. 
P/2016/0384: Temporary consent for a period until 31st October 2016.  Approved. 
P/2017/0092: Change of use of land for the temporary erection and operation of a 50m 
observation wheel, carousel and associated ancillary development (5-year period 
between the period of March to the 31st October).  Approved. 

Page 11



 

 

P/2021/0708: Variation of Condition relating to application P/2017/0092 (Change of 
use of land for the temporary erection and operation of a 50m observation wheel, 
carousel and associated ancillary development (5-year period between the period of 
March to the 31st October)).  Condition: 01 - Temporary Use (Mar-Oct). Extension of 
usage time ending from October 2020 to October 2021.  Approved. 
P/2022/0211: Change of use of land for temporary erection/operation of observation 
wheel, with ancillary development. One-year season (between period of March to 
October 2022).  Approved. 
P/2022/1032:  Change of use of land for temporary erection/operation of observation 
wheel, with ancillary development. One-year season (between period of March to 
October 2023).  Approved. 
P/2024/0138: Change of use of land for temporary erection/operation of 45m 
observation wheel, and ancillary development. One-year season (between period of 
March to October 2024).  Approved. 
 
Summary of Representations  
 
2 submissions received from the Torbay Heritage Trust objecting. Summary of key 
comments: 
 

Four Years in the Grade II Listed Princess Gardens and Royal Terrace Gardens – 
to remain on the Historic England “At Risk Register”, due solely to the annual 
Presence of the fairground wheel and ancillary buildings.  
Explained as a Heritage crime, as defined by Historic England, and Torbay 
Heritage Strategy - “is any offence which harms the value of heritage assets and 
their settings.” 
Proven by Historic England Objections in Writing in their last letters. include this 
unbelievable Heritage Crime. 
Establishing a Precedent for the Fairground Wheel Permanent Occupation. 
The Wheel causes harm should be considered to be near Permanent. 
Holm Oaks to facilitate location of Wheel have not been replaced & Planted and 
Historic England remains strongly concerned about the harm that the wheel 
demonstrably generates to the Listed Historic Gardens Heritage Assets.  
Significant visual impact into the highly sensitive area of Listed Princess Gardens 
and the Torquay Harbour Conservation Area. 
Temporary structure lacks any refinement or architectural merit in design. 
The surfacing and ancillary buildings add to the utilitarian quality. 
Availability of heritage funding causing Historic England to state public benefits 
could be achieved in an alternative manner and quote that thee wheel is an overtly 
alien and dominant presence’ and concerns quote ‘East end of the of the gardens 
lies Torquay Pavilion, a grade II building of architectural an artistic quality’ in Setting 
of Princess Gardens. 
In Breach of Revised 2024 Princess Gardens Masterplan omitting Ferris Wheel. 
Location damage in the Setting of the Listed War Memorial 

 
1 comment from the English Riviera BID Company in support: 
 

The English Riviera Wheel has become an iconic a very popular summer attraction 
on Torquay seafront and we would welcome it’s return again this year.   It is widely 
photographed and supports our Destination Marketing activities.  

Page 12



 

 

 
 
Note: Full comments are available to view on the public access system. 
 
 
Summary of Consultation Responses 
 
Note: Full responses are available to view on the public access system. 
 
Torquay Neighbourhood Forum 
The application relates to a tourist offering in Torquay’s economy and is in line with 
aspirations to promote the tourist offering.  It is in a Conservation Area and close to 
the Pavilion.  Both the wheel and the Pavilion can be considered as tourist facilities, 
although the Pavilion needs restoration to function in this way.  The visual impact of 
the wheel in the context of the Pavilion and Princess Gardens is subjective, and the 
Forum appreciates that there may be differences of opinion in this regard.  Overall, the 
Forum has not been concerned about the presence of the wheel in previous seasons, 
except for excessive music noise on occasions. 
 
The Application was discussed at the Meeting of the Steering Group on 11 February, 
and it was agreed that we should support the proposal with Conditions to address the 
issue of music noise, and to ensure proper maintenance and restoration of the 
Princess Gardens grounds. 
 
In conclusion, on balance the Forum supports a recommendation for Approval. 
 
Historic England 
General position: 
We have continuing very strong concerns about the presence of the wheel in this 
prominent position in Torquay, which causes a high degree of less than substantial 
harm to a number of heritage assets. It is particularly disappointing that the wheel is 
repeatedly given consent despite our concerns given the Council’s recent positive 
engagement with Historic England and other heritage organisations, and its allocation 
of heritage funding. 
 
The presence of the wheel has generated some heritage benefits in the past. We 
continue to strongly recommend that, should your authority give permission for the 
wheel for a further term, the revenue that this generates is tied to specified beneficial 
heritage outcomes. 
 
Those remaining elements identified within the Master Plan for the Registered Park 
and Garden (RPG) are becoming relatively minor – they are increasingly insufficient 
to demonstrate heritage gains. We encourage the Master Plan to be updated with our 
input to identify the current position and confirm defined beneficial outcomes and 
timescales for the removal of the RPG from the ‘at risk’ register. 
 
Historic England has concerns that the longer repeated temporary consents are 
granted on an annual basis, the greater the risk is that the wheel and associated 
structures will be considered a permanent summer feature of the RPG – something 
that Historic England would not find acceptable. We encourage your authority to 

Page 13



 

 

consider if relocating the wheel elsewhere within Torquay or Paignton would be more 
appropriate. 
 
Recommendation: 
Historic England has strong concerns regarding the application on heritage grounds. 
Ideally the wheel would not be permitted. However, if your authority does allow its 
seasonal occupation of this part of the RPG we recommend that all money raised 
contributes towards specified works that will result in the removal of the RPG from the 
‘at risk’ register. 
 
We consider that the issues and safeguards outlined in our advice need to be 
addressed in order for the application to meet the requirements of paragraphs 212, 
213 and 215 of the NPPF. 
 
In determining this application you should bear in mind the statutory duty of section 
72(1) of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 to pay 
special attention to the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or 
appearance of conservation areas; and section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004 to determine planning applications in accordance with the 
development plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
 
Your authority should take these representations into account and seek amendments, 
safeguards or further information as set out in our advice. 
 
The Gardens Trust 
We have considered the information provided in support of the application and have 
liaised with our colleagues in the Devon Gardens Trust.  
 
The RPG is currently on the heritage at risk register (HAR) and the observation wheel 
has been used as a tourist attraction to attract revenue towards the restoration of 
degraded heritage features. In our opinion, the ancillary temporary refreshment hut 
and seating area with white plastic furniture extends the area of impact of the ferris 
wheel. The Planning Statement outlines future areas where it is hoped funding might 
be able to address decline. The applicant suggests that the temporary harm to the 
setting of the RPG is offset by the public benefit accruing from the money raised for 
restoration. 
 
The Local Heritage Society in its online response cites that the only reason the RPG 
is still on the HAR is due to the presence of the ferris wheel. Looking at the HAR entry 
it states ‘Important formal Victorian seaside park with later phases and additions. Major 
development agreed, including a multi-storey, mixed-use building to be attached to the 
grade II listed Pavilion and the seasonal installation of a Ferris wheel. A condition 
report and management plan for the gardens was completed in early 2017.’ The 
vulnerability category is classed as ‘Medium.’ 
 
We ask that your officers satisfy themselves that the public benefit outweighs the 
temporary disbenefit of having this structure in a prominent position within the RPG. 
On this basis, we confirm we do not wish to comment further on the proposals at this 
stage. 
 

Page 14



 

 

Torbay Council Principal Historic Environment Officer 
Conclude that it is clear that the proposed development would cause clear harm to a 
number of identified heritage assets and that the proposals in their current form would 
neither preserve nor enhance the character or appearance of the identified 
conservation area, and thus is contrary to Policies SS10, HE1, TO2 and DE1 of the 
Torbay Local Plan and Policy TH8 of the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan which requires 
development to conserve and enhance the conservation area and to respect local 
character. 
 
In line with the requirements of the NPPF, permission should be refused, unless it can 
be demonstrated that the harm caused can be outweighed by associated public 
benefits, whilst being mindful of the great weight which should be given to the 
conservation of heritage assets and the requirements of Section 66 (1) and 72 of the 
Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. This would be a matter 
for the overall planning assessment of the proposals. 
 
It is noted that planning history on the site has demonstrated that it is considered that 
the public benefit associated with the proposed development is sufficient to outweigh 
the harm caused to designated heritage assets, despite concerns raised by various 
heritage organisations, most notably Historic England.  
 
Should the application be approved, it is strongly recommended that the masterplan 
for the site be updated and agreed with Historic England to identify the current position 
and confirm defined beneficial outcomes and timescales for the removal of the RPG 
from the ‘at risk’ register. This should include the possibilities for the relocation of the 
wheel to a less sensitive location within the bay which would deliver the same public 
benefits to the area without the associated harm to designated heritage assets. This 
could allow the RPG to be removed from the ‘at risk’ register which is a clear objective 
of the Torbay Heritage Strategy. 
 
Green Infrastructure Manager (SWISCo) 
No comments offered. 
 
Tree Officer 
No objections to proposed development.  Conditions should be applied to ensure tree 
protection and site management does not impact on retained trees. 
 
Torbay Council Drainage Engineer  
The development lies within Flood Zones 1 and 2 and therefore the developer has 
submitted a site specific flood risk assessment, which addresses these issues. 
 
The application form identifies that surface water run-off from the new development 
will be discharged to a soakaway. 
 
Based on the above comments, I can confirm that that as the developer is proposing 
to discharge his surface water drainage to a soakaway, please use the recently agreed 
standing advice for this planning application. 
 
Community Safety Officer 
The lighting impact assessment submitted with the application demonstrates that the 

Page 15



 

 

proposed lights should not result in nuisance light spill. The scheme should be 
implemented as specified in the report. 
 
The observation wheel and ancillary developments shall not operate between the 
hours of 23:00 and 08:00 daily. 
 
Further discussion regarding noise concerns raised by the Torquay Neighbourhood 
Forum offered the recommendation of an informative to be added to any formal 
decision regarding noise nuisance. 
 
Highway Authority (Swisco): 
The Local Highway Authority requires the following to be resolved before a positive 
recommendation can be made in respect to this planning application: 
•  The cycle parking provision for employees does not comply with local planning 
standards. Cycle parking for visitors should also be considered. 
•  The access, egress, and turning arrangements for construction vehicles should be 
demonstrated. 
•  The MSTP does not provide details on parking arrangements for operative vehicles 
and site visitors during the site set up. 
 
Once the above is resolved, the application will be subject to a suitably worded 
planning condition, as mentioned in the emergency access section of this response. 
 
Devon County Council Ecology 
No objection subject to conditioning of the lighting report and a biodiversity net gain 
condition. 
 
Confirmation offered that lighting report as previously submitted would be acceptable. 
 
Police Designing Out Crime Officer 
No objections. 
 
Planning Officer Assessment 
 
Key Issues/Material Considerations 
 
1. Principle of the development,   
2. Impact on heritage assets, 
3. Design and visual impact  
4. Impact on adjacent amenity, 
5. Impact on trees, 
6. Ecology, biodiversity and the marine environment. 
7.  Flood risk 
 
1.  Principle of the development 
 
The site is a designated Local Green Space within the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan 
under Policy TE2 (TLGST2).  The policy guides that development is ruled out, other 
than in very special circumstances.  The policy cites that very special circumstances 
may include minor improvements to community access, or facilities that support their 

Page 16



 

 

use for public recreation or amateur sports, or development allowing reasonable small 
extensions in a style that reflects the setting and the local area which would be 
consistent with the LGS designation.  The proposal is temporary in nature and is a 
unique tourism facility within an area that is also part of a wider Core Tourism 
Investment Area.  In the context of the greenspace being part of a wider public frontage 
and key tourism area, and the development being contained within part of the wider 
park and thus retaining areas of openness for wider public use, and the development 
being temporary and tourism related, the development, subject to wider 
considerations, is considered to accord with the ambitions of the policy and the 
guidance contained within Policy TE2, and thus is an acceptable form of development 
within the designated greenspace. 
 
In terms of the Torbay Local Plan Policies SDT2 (Torquay Town Centre and Harbour), 
TC1 (Town centres), TO1 (Tourism, events and culture) and TO2 (Change of use of 
tourism accommodation and facilities) provide relevant policy guidance on the 
principal of a leisure attraction on the edge of Torquay Town Centre and Harbour. 
 
Policy SDT2 seeks to reinforce Torquay Town Centre as the principal retail and leisure 
area, to become the key sub-regional retail and leisure destination and to provide a 
vibrant and more enjoyable shopping and leisure environment. 
 
Policy TC1 centres on retail and town centre uses and reinforces the town centre first 
approach.  Two criteria apply and there is a notion of support for development for 
mixed use edge of centre developments that help achieve more balanced communities 
by delivering a mix of uses including employment and leisure, which is relevant 
(Criterion v), and the use of heritage assets, public art and public space, events, 
exhibitions and festivals to provide a more enjoyable, creative environment (Criterion 
viii). 
 
Policy TO1 seeks that Torbay's tourism offer will be developed in a sustainable and 
competitive manner, to enhance its role as a premier tourism destination.  It furthers 
that tourist facilities will be improved, and modernised and new tourism facilities 
provided, in order to attract new visitors.  The policy supports in principle the provision 
of new tourist attractions, subject to other Policies in the Local Plan. The policy 
supports the retention, improvement and creation of high-quality tourism and leisure 
attractions in sustainable, accessible, locations with a particular focus on Core 
Tourism Investment Areas as the areas for investment in tourism. 
 
Policy TO2 seeks that within Core Tourism Investment Areas that the role of premises 
should be retained and enhanced commensurate with their contribution to the area's 
tourism offer.    
 
The provision of an a 45m observation wheel, together with a ticket office, small 
catering unit and an associated outdoor seating area will temporarily remove a small 
section of the public park and will impact views in and around the areas.  However, 
the public use of the park in terms of formal and informal seating, passage through, 
and general enjoyment, will be largely retained with the wheel sitting as a tourism 
facility within the space.  When considering the location is a well-located local 
greenspace, which is in a central and sustainable location and within a Core Tourism 
Investment Area, the development is broadly considered to be supported in principle 

Page 17



 

 

when considering the greenspace, town centre and tourism policies cited above. 
 
As a material consideration it is noted that the English Riviera BID Company Ltd 
supports the proposal stating that “The English Riviera Wheel has become an iconic 
a very popular summer attraction on Torquay seafront and we would welcome it’s 
return again this year.   It is widely photographed and supports our Destination 
Marketing activities”. 
 
It is also noted that the Torquay Neighbourhood Forum supports the principle of 
development in the location proposed in terms of how it supports the tourism offer in 
the area and aligns with objectives to support tourism and the economy. 
  
In conclusion the principle of the temporary provision of an observation wheel and 
ancillary development is considered to align with the development plan aspirations in 
terms of supporting and promoting tourism facilities and the management of Local 
Green Spaces.  This conclusion is one of general principle and is subject to wider 
considerations which will be considered below. 
 
2.  Impact on the Heritage Assets 
 
This is a sensitive location, it is prominent within the Torquay Harbour Conservation 
Area, is near to a Grade II Listed building (Pavilion) and set within Princess Gardens 
which is a Grade II entry on the Register of Historic Parks and Gardens.  It is also 
adjacent to the War Memorial and near to the Fountain, which are both also Grade II 
listed structures. 
 
In terms of the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan Policy TT2 (Change of Use in 
Conservation Areas and Listed Buildings) provides some key guidance.  The policy 
guides that within designated Conservation Areas or where Listed Buildings are 
involved, whether inside or outside of a CTIA, change of use from tourist 
accommodation and other development proposals requiring consent will be supported 
in principle (subject to other policies in the Plan) to ensure a sound future for such 
heritage assets and wherever possible unsympathetic development of the past is 
removed or altered to enhance the historic environment. 
 
Policies SS10 and HE1 provide key advice within the Torbay Local Plan.  Policy SS10 
requires development to sustain and enhance assets and adds that all assets will be 
conserved proportionate to their importance and concludes that proposals that 
enhance heritage assets or their setting will be supported.  Policy HE1 offers central 
guidance in that development proposals should have special regard to the desirability 
of preserving any listed building and its setting. 
 
It is also relevant that the Council adopted a Heritage Strategy in November 2020 
within which objective RST04 is that Princess Gardens and Royal Terrace Gardens 
are maintained and protected for the future.  The measure of success is cited as being 
that the Gardens continue to be maintained to a high quality and the Gardens are 
removed from the Heritage at Risk Register.  As noted with the consultation response 
from Historic England the park and garden continues to be on Historic England’s 
‘Heritage at Risk’ register but with an improving trend and the wheel is an identified 
harming element. 

Page 18



 

 

 
The NPPF also provides guidance on heritage assets and cites that such assets are 
an irreplaceable resource and should be conserved in a manner appropriate to their 
significance, so that they can be enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life of 
existing and future generations (Paragraph 202).  The guidance furthers within 
Paragraph 210 that in determining applications, local planning authorities should take 
account of; 
 
a)  the desirability of sustaining and enhancing the significance of heritage assets 

and putting them to viable uses consistent with their conservation; 
b)  the positive contribution that conservation of heritage assets can make to 

sustainable communities including their economic vitality; and 
c)  the desirability of new development making a positive contribution to local 

character and distinctiveness. 
 
The NPPF also provides key advice in terms of considering potential impacts, with 
Paragraph 212 guiding that great weight should be given to the asset’s conservation 
(and the more important the asset, the greater the weight should be).  Paragraphs 
213, 214 and 215 provide further guidance relative to level of harm, which will be 
explored in more detail within this section below. 
 
In terms of key considerations, it is accepted that the proposal is considered to present 
a significant change to the character of the Registered Park and Garden for a 
temporary period, in this case four extended summer periods (detailed as mid-March 
to October).  This is due to consideration that a large, modern, observation wheel is 
considered an overtly alien and dominant presence within the historic parkland setting.  
This conclusion is aligned with the views of Historic England and the Council’s 
Principal Historic Environment Officer and The Gardens Trust. 
 
In addition to the temporary harm to the Registered Park and Garden the wheel would 
also present some temporary harm to the setting of the nearby Grade II listed Pavilion 
building and Grade II listed structures within the park (War Memorial and Fountain).  
The cumulative harm to a number of heritage assets is a relative matter to consider in 
the balancing exercise. 
 
The application is supported by a heritage assessment and an updated conservation 
management plan for the Registered Park and Garden.  The supporting information 
seeks to identify the harm and propose mitigation to balance the harm.   
 
In terms of heritage matters, the key consideration is an assessment and judgment on 
the short-term harm of placing the wheel and associated development, over the 
medium/long term benefit of any direct ‘conservation gain’ proposed and what works 
it could secure.  In this application the proposal is to provide £110,000 for identified 
improvements works to the internal pathway network of the park and garden, towards 
a scheme to replace the existing red tarmac routes with a more contextual surface 
finish suitable for the heritage setting.  The resurfacing proposals are detailed within 
the updated conservation plan for the park and garden.  This obligation would be paid 
across the 4 years of any potential permission with £30,000 paid in 2024 and 2025 
and £25,000 paid in 2027 and 2028. 
 

Page 19



 

 

The concept of seeking to offset short term harm with longer term conservation gains 
follows those tabled and accepted within previous applications for the temporary 
placement of a wheel in the park.  Notably a previous 5-year temporary permission for 
a wheel and carousel secured circa £130,000 that directly funded the recent 
restoration of the adjacent listed fountain, and more recent 1-year permissions 
providing funding of £40,000 across two permissions towards the renovation works to 
the War Memorial (£20,000 per annual permission), and most recently in 2024 
permission providing £30,000 for pavement improvement works. 
 
In terms of the level of impact and harm to the various heritage assets the Council’s 
Principal Historic Environment Officer concludes that the harm varies from low to high 
within the ‘less than substantial’ category, with the highest level of harm being to the 
registered park and garden and the setting of the listed war memorial, which sits 
immediately adjacent to the proposed location of the wheel. In terms of the balance of 
heritage harm and heritage benefit it is considered that the impacts are short term and 
reversible in nature 
 
The submission presents that the heritage impact of granting permission for four 
‘seasons’ would be offset through the proposed ring-fenced investment in the 
Registered Park and Garden of £110,000. It is suggested that the potential 
conservation gains proposed, together with the economic and tourism benefits, 
adequately offset the less than substantial harm on the heritage assets, in accordance 
with the NPPF guidance. 
 
It also remains pertinent that wheel has been immensely popular, has attracted 
tourists, created a dramatic and striking feature within the townscape and has 
generated economic benefits for the town in terms of increased spend. Once removed, 
the former site has been quickly reinstated to its former condition and such 
arrangements could again be secured by condition for its new location. 
 
It is noted that planning history on the site has demonstrated that it is considered that 
the public benefit associated with the proposed development is sufficient to outweigh 
the harm caused to designated heritage assets, despite concerns raised by various 
heritage organisations, most notably Historic England. This is a relative material 
consideration notwithstanding some minor variances across the applications on the 
level of funding and works expected.  
 
In the circumstances, given the conservation, economic and tourism benefits of the 
wheel, and subject to achieving the identified conservation 'gains' to offset the less 
than substantial harm, there would appear sufficient public benefit to permit a four year 
(extended summer season) permission in the location proposed when considering the 
level of harm to heritage assets and the previous planning consents as a material 
consideration. 
 
The scheme, subject to the above, would be compliant with Policies SS10 and HE1 of 
the Torbay Local Plan, Policy TT2 of the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan, and advice 
contained within the NPPF regarding heritage assets and less than substantial harm. 
 
The above conclusion has considered the duty to have special regard to (1) the 
desirability of preserving any listed building or its setting or any features of special 

Page 20



 

 

architectural or historic interest which it possesses and (2) the desirability of preserving 
or enhancing the character or appearance of any conservation area, as detailed within 
the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 
 
3.  Design and visual impact 
 
Regarding the general impact of the development upon the wider townscape Policy 
DE1 (Design) provides pertinent advice, stating that development should be well-
designed, respecting and enhancing Torbay's special qualities, with design 
considerations on (i) function, (ii) visual appeal and (iii) quality of public space. 
 
The NPPF within Section 12 “Achieving well-designed places” broadly seeks the 
creation of high quality, beautiful and sustainable buildings and places (Paragraph 
131), and seeks that decisions should ensure that developments function well and add 
to and area, are visually attractive, and are sympathetic to local character (whilst not 
preventing or discouraging change), as outlined within broader guidance contained 
within Paragraph 135. 
 
In terms of function the development is temporary in nature and the impact of placing 
the wheel and associated ancillary development within Princess Gardens will not alter 
the adaptability of the space in terms of future change and need.  The development is 
also aligned with functionality in terms of providing diversity to the park’s longstanding 
tourism and recreation use.  The development will also integrate within the constraints 
of the green infrastructure and principal routes through the park, with the main 
thoroughfares unaffected. 
 
In terms of visual appeal, the observation wheel is a very prominent and distinguished 
structure that would be very striking within the townscape.  The character and 
permeability of the wheel will however largely protect long-distance public views and, 
through its use, the wheel will also introduce new view-points for residents of and 
visitors to Torbay.  Overall, in terms of visual appeal the wheel will have an impact 
upon the townscape due to its scale and prominence, however the impact is 
considered limited as the structure is temporary in character, lightweight in terms of 
how it retains views through it.  As previously concluded though there are visual impact 
concerns when considering the heritage context. 
 
In terms of the quality of the public space the location of the development seeks to 
respond to and address the key public routes through the park and limit the impact 
upon these routes.  As a unique attraction that is only in a handful of locations 
nationally the development has the potential to enlighten the experience of the park 
and wider promenade as a recreational destination.  However as previously detailed 
the wheel also has the potential to detrimentally impact the public experience of the 
park in terms of enjoyment of the space as a historic park and garden, as it’s a very 
large and imposing structure that is an alien presence. 
 
Considering the character, form and location the development is considered generally 
suitable for the context and in accordance with the aims and objectives of Policy DE1 
of the Local Plan 2012-2030 and guidance contained within the NPPF.   This 
consideration does not consider the heritage impact of the development. 
 

Page 21



 

 

4.  Amenity 
 
Policy DE3 (Development amenity) of the Torbay Local Plan seeks to secure 
development that does not unduly impact upon the amenity of neighbouring and 
surrounding uses, with impact being assessed to include noise, nuisance, visual 
intrusion, overlooking and privacy, light and air pollution. 
 
The scale and location is consistent with a previous consents. Its form and location 
would have little impact upon the commercial operations around the gardens and 
immediate area, due to its form and location.  The development may have a more 
demonstrable beneficial impact on neighbouring commercial operations where they 
may benefit from the additional footfall and tourism interest that the wheel is likely to 
generate. 
 
In terms of residential impact, the nearest adjacent properties on Warren Road sit on 
higher ground to the north of the wheel, approximately 100 metres from the proposed 
location.  It has previously been determined that the impact on privacy and noise 
nuisance to residential properties 100 meters away are not sustainable reasons to 
resist the wheel, subject to conditions to restrict the hours of operation and lighting.  
This opinion is maintained.  Previous consent has permitted a wheel of 50m in scale, 
which is a relevant material consideration.  
 
The wheel will be lit in a similar way to the previous operations/consents.  The lighting 
has been previously considered acceptable and if similarly lit the wheel would not 
unduly impact neighbours. 
 
In terms of amenity the wheel would be acceptable and compliant with Policy DE3 of 
the Torbay Local Plan and aligned with guidance contained within the NPPF regarding 
protecting and delivering appropriate levels of amenity. 
 
5.  Arboricultural impact 
 
Policy C4 of the Local Plan states that development will not be permitted when it would 
seriously harm, either directly or indirectly, protected trees or veteran trees, 
hedgerows, ancient woodlands or other natural features of significant landscape, 
historic or nature conservation value. Policy C4 goes on to state that development 
proposals should seek to retain and protect existing hedgerows, trees and natural 
landscape features wherever possible, particularly where they serve an important 
biodiversity role. 
 
There is a linear row of mature London Plane trees to the north of the proposed 
location, which are set along the adjacent footpath and frame the highway.  These 
provide significant visual benefits to the character of the area and the setting of the 
Registered Park and Garden. 
 
The location of the wheel appears consistent with previous years, which established 
a suitable relationship with consideration of the crown and rooting protection area of 
these trees.  This location was previously considered acceptable on arboricultural 
grounds under the previous planning permissions for the wheel. 
 

Page 22



 

 

The application is supported by a tree report, tree protection plan and method 
statement consistent with previous applications.  In the absence of any comments of 
objection from the Council’s tree officer the proposal is considered acceptable on 
arboricultural grounds. 
 
The proposal is considered acceptable on arboricultural merit and aligned with policies 
DE1 and C4 of the Torbay Local Plan. 
 
6. Ecology, Biodiversity and Marine Environment 
 
Policy NC1 outlines that the Local Plan seeks to conserve and enhance Torbay’s 
biodiversity and geodiversity.  Policy TE7 - Marine Management Planning of the 
Torquay Neighbourhood Plan states that development proposals on land adjacent to 
the coastline will be supported where do not have an adverse effect on a marine policy 
or management plan. 
 
The proposal is not considered to present any ecological or marine impacts due to its 
location within an urban location and managed (closely mown) habitat.  Although close 
to the coast the development is temporary in nature and sits above ground without 
disturbing the land.   The operation is unlikely to impact the adjacent marine 
environment for these reasons.   
 
In terms of further matters Biodiversity Net Gain (BNG) is now mandatory subject to 
certain exemptions. This means where applicable development must deliver a 10% 
gain in biodiversity.  In terms of this application the submission is accompanied by the 
statutory Biodiversity Net Gain Metric, which ultimately proposes the planting of two 
trees within the site to positively address the statutory requirement.  Devon County 
Council’s Ecologist is satisfied with the information submitted. 
 
For the reasons above the development is not in conflict with ecology-based policies 
of the development plan or guidance within the NPPF. 
 
7.  Flood Risk 
 
The development is temporary in nature and involves limited areas where 
development/structures sit on top of the established land without presenting 
permanent change.  These are the foot pads for the wheel, the small catering and 
kiosk units, and the Astro turf covering.  
 
The application form identifies that surface water run-off from the new development 
will be discharged to a soakaway. 
 
The development is not considered likely to increase flood risk.  There is no objection 
to the proposal from the Councils Drainage Officer. 
 
Subject to a planning condition to secure the proposed surface water management, 
the development is considered to accord with Policies ER1 and ER2 of the Torbay 
Local Plan and is considered acceptable on flood risk grounds. 
 
Sustainability 

Page 23



 

 

 
Policy SS3 of the Local Plan establishes the presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. The NPPF definition of sustainability has three aspects which are 
economic, social and environmental. Each of which shall be discussed in turn: 
 
The Economic Role  
 
Tourism is an important economic sector and there would be economic benefits of 
from the wheel in supporting this sector and enhancing the facilities available during 
tourism trips and possible temporary employment opportunities. It is noted that the 
English Riviera BID Company Ltd supports the proposal stating that it has become an 
iconic and very popular summer attraction on Torquay seafront welcome it’s return, 
furthering that it is widely photographed and supports our Destination Marketing 
activities. 
 
There are no adverse economic impacts that would arise from this development.  In 
respect of the economic element of sustainable development the balance is in favour 
of the development. 
 
The Social Role  
 
The principle social benefit of the proposed development is that it would help deliver 
job opportunities in the local area.  The development will support this aspiration.  The 
short terms benefits weigh in favour of the development. 
 
The Environmental role  
 
The environmental benefits are considered negative due to the heritage impacts of the 
proposals, however the impact is largely mitigated by the longer term heritage gains 
secured via funding for improvement works with the Registered Park and Garden.  The 
proposals present biodiversity net gain as a positive matter. 
 
Sustainability Conclusion 
 
Having regard to the above assessment the proposed development is on balance 
considered to represent sustainable development when considering the positive 
tourism and economic benefits weighed against the short term heritage harm that is 
itself largely mitigated by the longer term heritage gains that will be delivered via the 
funding mechanism.  
 
Statement on Human Rights and Equalities Issues 
 
Human Rights Act - The development has been assessed against the provisions of 
the Act, and in particular Article 1 of the First Protocol and Article 8 of the Act. This Act 
gives further effect to the rights included in the European Convention on Human 
Rights. In arriving at this recommendation, due regard has been given to the 
applicant's reasonable development rights and expectations which have been 
balanced and weighed against the wider community interests, as expressed through 
third party interests / the Development Plan and Central Government Guidance. 
 

Page 24



 

 

Equalities Act - In arriving at this recommendation, due regard has been given to the 
provisions of the Equalities Act 2010, particularly the Public Sector Equality Duty and 
Section 149. The Equality Act 2010 requires public bodies to have due regard to the 
need to eliminate discrimination, advance equality of opportunity and foster good 
relations between different people when carrying out their activities. Protected 
characteristics are age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and maternity, 
race/ethnicity, religion or belief (or lack of), sex and sexual orientation. 
 
Local Finance Considerations  
 
The development as a tourist attraction and is likely to increase footfall in the gardens 
to the benefit of local businesses. 
 
The development will present additions spend within the area through inward 
operational staff. 
 
There is proposed conservation payment of £110,000 to aid fund a resurfacing plan 
for the park and garden, to provide a more contextual heritage-informed surface 
treatment for the paths. 
 
EIA/HRA 
 
EIA: Due to the scale, nature and location this development will not have significant 
effects on the environment and therefore is not considered to be EIA development. 
 
HRA: Due to the scale, nature and location this development is not considered to have 
a likely significant effect on European Sites. 
 
Planning Balance 
 
The planning assessment considers the policy and material considerations in detail.  
There are no wider material considerations beyond the development plan.  
 
Conclusions and Reasons for Decision 
 
The development presents harm to a number of heritage assets, which is considered 
to be classed as a high level of ‘less than substantial’ harm that weigh against the 
scheme.  To offset the harm the proposal presents a financial obligation of £110,000 
to be spent specifically on a heritage-based resurfacing scheme as identified within 
the supporting updated conservation plan. The resurfacing of pathways is deemed to 
present a heritage benefit that presents some mitigation in terms of long-term benefits 
seeking to offset the short term harm of placing the wheel and associated development 
in the park on a temporary basis.   
 
Aside the heritage considerations there is clearly tourism and economic benefits to the 
scheme in terms of a tourism attraction, a somewhat iconic visual feature that is a 
prominent feature within the wider seafront. It is noted that the English Riviera BID 
Company Ltd supports the proposal stating that it has become an iconic and very 
popular summer attraction on Torquay seafront welcome it’s return, furthering that it is 

Page 25



 

 

widely photographed and supports our Destination Marketing activities.  It is also 
supported by the Neighbourhood Forum. 
 
Having regard to the Development Plan as a whole (and regard to section 38(6) of the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004, to determine planning applications in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise), the development is recommended for approval as the harm to heritage 
assets is considered mitigated by the proposed conservation gain, and the economic 
and tourism benefits of the facility. 
 
The conclusions have regard to the duty to have special regard to the desirability of 
preserving the setting of listed buildings and to pay special attention to the desirability 
of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of conservation areas outlined 
within the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990. 
 
Officer Recommendation 
 
Planning permission is granted, with conditions relating to the temporary timing, hours 
of operation, lighting, operational management, restrictions on external storage, and 
restriction on means of enclosures, and subject to a legal agreement to secure 
£110,000 for improvement works within the registered park and garden.  
 
Proposed Conditions 
 
Temporary period: 
The permission, allowing occupation of the site by the observation wheel and ancillary 
development, shall be for a temporary period only between the periods of March 15th to 
October 31st inclusive for the years 2025-2028. The observation wheel and ancillary 
development shall be removed before 1st November each year and following removal the 
gardens shall be reinstated in accordance with details that shall have previously been 
submitted to and agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. The agreed scheme 
of reinstatement shall be implemented in full within 10 days following the removal of the 
development.  
 
Reason: The use of the site by the development is only acceptable on a short term basis 
and more lengthy occupation would be harmful to the setting of the listed buildings, to the 
character of the Registered Gardens and the wider Torquay Harbour Conservation Area 
contrary to Policies HE1 and SS10 of the Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and Policies TT2 
and TE2 of the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan.  
 
Hours of operation 
The observation wheel and the associated ancillary catering facilities shall only operate, 
and be lit, between the hours of 08.00 and 22.00 hours daily.  
 
Reason: To ensure that disturbance to residents who overlook the site is minimised in 
accordance with Policy DE3 of the Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030.  
 
Lighting 
The development shall at all times accord with the approved lighting scheme. The 
development shall only be lit during the approved operational hours.  
 

Page 26



 

 

Reason: To ensure that disturbance to residents who overlook the site is minimised and 
to protect the wider visual character of the area, in accordance with Policies DE1 and DE3 
of the Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030. 
 
Operations and traffic statement 
The development shall at all times be managed and operated in full accordance with the 
submitted and approved Method Statement & Traffic Plan (RMS-CS-UK-01).  
 
Reason: In order to protect the structural integrity of the site and amenity, in accordance 
with Policies DE1, DE3, TA2, C4, HE1 and SS10 of the Torbay Local Plan 2012-2030 and 
Policy TT2 of the Torquay Neighbourhood Plan.  
 
Tree Protection  
The development shall proceed in accordance with the submitted and approved 
Arboricultural Method Statement Ref: RSKHL_8315.24 and Tree Protection Plan Ref: 
RSKHL_8315.24_TPP. 
 
All tree protection measures shall be installed prior to the commencement of both the 
installation and removal phases each season and shall be shall be retained in full during 
both processes. 
 
Reason: To secure development that is acceptable on arboricultural merit and in 
accordance with policies DE1 and C4 of the Torbay Local Plan. 
 
Storage 
At all times there shall be no external storage, including waste storage (excluding 
reasonable customer-facing waste bins) within the site, ancillary to the development 
hereby approved.  
 
Reason: To provide an acceptable form of development within the public setting of the 
Registered Park and Garden and Core Tourism Investment Area, in accordance with 
Policies DE1, DE3, T01, SS10 and HE1 of the Torbay Local Plan and Policy TH8 of the 
Torquay Neighbourhood Plan.  
 
Means of enclosure 
No additional means of enclosure other than those shown on the approved plans shall be 
erected in association with the development.  
 
Reason: To provide an acceptable form of development within the public setting of the 
Registered Park and Garden and Core Tourism Investment Area, in accordance with 
Policies DE1, DE3, T01, SS10 and HE1 of the Torbay Local Plan and Policy TH8 of the 
Torquay Neighbourhood Plan.  
 
Informative(s) 
 
Noise 
The operation of the development hereby approved could affect neighbours as a result of 
noise or other disturbance if it is not well managed. The operator should be mindful of this. 
If complaints of disturbance are received by the Council, these would be investigated and 
formal action taken under the Environmental Protection Act 1990, Anti-Social Behaviour, 
Crime and Policing Act 2014 or other relevant legislation if required. The grant of this 
planning consent would not automatically prevent such action 

Page 27



 

 

 
Biodiversity Net Gain 
The effect of paragraph 13 of Schedule 7A to the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
is that planning permission granted for the development of land in England is deemed to 
have been granted subject to the condition "(the biodiversity gain condition") that 
development may not begin unless:  
a. a Biodiversity Gain Plan has been submitted to the planning authority, and  
b. the planning authority has approved the plan.   
There are statutory exemptions and transitional arrangements which mean that the 
biodiversity gain condition does not always apply. These are set out in the Biodiversity 
Gain Requirements (Exemptions) Regulations 2024 and The Environment Act 2021 
(Commencement No. 8 and Transitional Provisions) Regulations 2024.  
Based on the information provided to determine the application this permission is 
considered to be one which will require the approval of a biodiversity gain plan before 
development can begin because none of the statutory exemptions or transitional 
arrangements are considered to apply. 
 
Positive and Proactive Working 
In accordance with the requirements of Article 35(2) of the Town and Country Planning 
(Development Management Procedure) (England) Order 2015, in determining this 
application, Torbay Council has worked with the applicant in a positive and proactive 
way by clearly setting out concerns relating to the proposal and providing an opportunity 
for the applicant to withdraw the application. However, the applicant elected not to 
withdraw the application, thereby resulting in this refusal of planning permission. 
 

Relevant Policies 
 
Development Plan Relevant Policies 
 
DE1 - Design 
DE3 - Development Amenity 
TC1 - Town Centres 
TC5 - Evening and night time economy 
TO1 - Tourism, events and culture 
TA2 - Development access 
HE1 - Listed Buildings 
ER1 - Flood Risk 
SS4 - The economy and employment 
SS10 - Conservation and Historic Environment 
SDT2 - Torquay town centre and harbour 
C4 - Trees, hedgerows and natural landscape 
NC1 - Biodiversity and Geodiversity_ 
 
TT2 -  Change of Use in Conservation Areas and Listed Buildings 
TE2 – Local Green Spaces  
TS4 - Support for Brownfield and Greenfield development 
TH8 - Established architecture 
TE5 - Protected species habitats and biodiversity  
 

Page 28


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Land at Princess Gardens, Off Torbay Road, Torquay (P/2025/0061)

